IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 20-0396
POLK COUNTY NO. PCCE084726

FERNANDO SANDOVAL,
Applicant / Appellant

vs.

STATE OF IOWA,
Respondent / Appellee

APPEAL FROM HARDIN COUNTY DISTRICT COURT

THE HONORABLE JOSEPH SEIDLIN, JUDGE

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Jessica Maffitt
Benzoni Law Office, P.L.C.
2912 Beaver Avenue
Des Moines, IA 50310
(515) 271-5730 - phone
(515) 274-2300 - fax
justice@benzonilaw.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE AND FILING

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING SANDOVAL'S APPLICION AS UNTIMELY

Linn v. State, 929 N.W.2d 717, 729 (Iowa 2019)

Castro v. State, 795 N.W.2d 789, 792 (Iowa 2011)

i. EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS REQUIRE POSTCONVICTION RELIEF BE AVAILABLE TO APPLICANT

Allison v. State, 914 N.W.2d 866, 891 (Iowa 2018)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 684–87 (1984)

Douglas v. California, 372 U.S. 353, 354–55 (1963)

Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45 (1932)

Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344 (1963)

U.S. Constitution, Amend. 5, 6, 14;

Iowa Constitution, Art. 1, §§ 6, 9, 10.

Iowa Code § 822.3

ii. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DOES NOT APPLY BECAUSE THERE IS A GROUND OF FACT THAT COULD NOT HAVE BEEN RAISED WITHIN THE APPLICABLE TIME PERIOD

Allison v. State, 914 N.W.2d 866, 891 (Iowa 2018)

Dible v. State, 557 N.W.2d 881, 884 (Iowa 1996), *abrogated on other grounds by Harrington*, 659 N.W.2d 509, and *holding modified by Allison*, 914 N.W.2d 866

Harrington v. State, 659 N.W.2d 509, 521 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa Code § 822.3

iii. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DOES NOT APPLY BECAUSE THERE IS A GROUND OF LAW THAT COULD NOT HAVE BEEN RAISED WITHIN THE APPLICABLE TIME PERIOD

State v. Edman, 444 N.W.2d 103, 106 (Iowa Ct. App. 1989)

Phuoc Thanh Nguyen v. State, 829 N.W.2d 183, 188 (Iowa 2013)

Allison v. State, 914 N.W.2d 866, 891 (Iowa 2018)

a. The Court Erred in Finding *Allison v. State* Inapplicable to Sandoval’s Case

Allison v. State, 914 N.W.2d 866, 891 (Iowa 2018)

Polk v. State, No. 18-0309, 2019 WL 3945964, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 21, 2019)

b. Sandoval Qualifies for the Exception to the Statute of Limitations Because His Initial Postconviction Application Was Filed Timely

Allison v. State, 914 N.W.2d 866, 891 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Sandoval, 725 N.W.2d 658 (Table), No. 05-0426, 2006 WL 3018152 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 25, 2006)

Iowa Code § 822.3

c. Sandoval Qualifies for the Exception to the Statute of Limitations Because His Initial Postconviction Counsel Was Ineffective in Presenting the Ineffective-Assistance-of-Trial-Counsel Claim

Allison v. State, 914 N.W.2d 866, 891 (Iowa 2018)

d. Qualifies for the Exception to the Statute of Limitations Because He Filed His Application for Postconviction Relief Promptly

Dible v. State, 557 N.W.2d 881, 884 (Iowa 1996), *abrogated on other grounds by Harrington*, 659 N.W.2d 509, and *holding modified by Allison*, 914 N.W.2d 866

Phuoc Thanh Nguyen v. State, 829 N.W.2d 183, 188 (Iowa 2013)

Allison v. State, 914 N.W.2d 866, 891 (Iowa 2018)

e. Sandoval Qualifies for the Exception to the Statute of Limitations Because He Filed His Application for Postconviction Prior to the Enactment of Iowa Code § 822.3

Moore v. United States, 173 F.3d 1131, 1135 (8th Cir. 1999)

Matney v. Currier, 203 N.W.2d 589, 592 (Iowa 1973).

II. SANDOVAL IS SUBJECT TO AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE BECAUSE HIS SENTENCE IS GROSSLY DISPROPORTIONAL, CONSIDERING THE INDIVIDUAL CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS CASE

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 872 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Parker, 747 N.W.2d 196, 212 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 382 (Iowa 2014), *as amended* (Sept. 30, 2014)

State v. Hoeck, 843 N.W.2d 67, 72 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Oliver, 812 N.W.2d 636, 648-49 (Iowa 2012)

Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 292 (1983)

United States Constitution, Amendment 8

Iowa Constitution Article 1 § 17

i. Sandoval's Sentence Was Grossly Disproportionate Due to the Gravity of the Offense and the Harshness of the Sentence

Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 292 (1983)

State v. Oliver, 812 N.W.2d 636, 648-49 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 872 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 55 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 146 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545, 556 (Iowa 2015), *holding modified on other grounds by State v. Roby*, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)

Enmund v. Fla., 458 U.S. 782, 800 (1982)

a. **Sandoval's Sentence Is Grossly Disproportionate Due to His Young Age and Incomplete Brain Development at the Time of the Offense**

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 55 (Iowa 2013)

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 146 (Iowa 2017)

Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005)

Florida v. Graham, 560 U.S. 48 (2010)

"Adolescence, Brain Development and Legal Culpability," ABA Juvenile Justice Center Newsletter, January 2004, at 2

Brief of Amici Curai AMA et. al., *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005) (No. 03-633) at 16.

Jeffrey Arnett, “Reckless Behavior in Adolescence: A Developmental Perspective,” 12 *Developmental Rev.* 339, at 344, 350-51

b. Sandoval’s Life Sentence Is Grossly Disproportionate Due to His Young Age at the Time of the Offense

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 382 (Iowa 2014), *as amended* (Sept. 30, 2014)

State v. Sweet, 879 N.W.2d 811, 838 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 55 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 147 (Iowa 2017)

Florida v. Graham, 560 U.S. 48 (2010)

Iowa Constitution Article 1 § 17

c. The Court Should Have Provided Sandoval With an Individualized Sentencing Hearing and Considered Mitigating Factors, Including “Vulnerability to Peer Pressure”, Which Is Characteristic of Teenagers

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 147 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 55 (Iowa 2013)

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 382 (Iowa 2014), *as amended* (Sept. 30, 2014)

State v. Ragland, 836 N.W.2d 107, 115 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Sandoval, 725 N.W.2d 658 (Table), No. 05-0426, 2006 WL 3018152 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 25, 2006)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 872 (Iowa 2009)

Enmund v. Fla., 458 U.S. 782, 800 (1982)

ii. Sandoval’s Sentence Compared to Sentences Imposed on Other Criminal Defendants in the Same Jurisdiction

Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127, 147 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Sweet, 879 N.W.2d 811, 838 (Iowa 2016)

Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 55 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 382 (Iowa 2014), *as amended* (Sept. 30, 2014)
State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545, 556 (Iowa 2015), *holding modified by State v. Roby*, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)
Iowa Constitution Article 1 § 17
Iowa Code §123.47
Iowa Code § 99D.11(7)
Iowa Code § 725.19(2)
Iowa Code § 123.47(1)
Iowa Code § 724.22(1)

iii. Sandoval’s Sentence Compared to Sentences in Other Jurisdictions

Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 (1983)
Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005)
Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012)
State v. Sweet, 879 N.W.2d 811, 832, 839 (Iowa 2016)
Diatchenko v. District Attorney, 466 Mass. 655, 1 N.E.3d 270, 276 (2013)
Bun v. State, 296 Ga. 549, 769 S.E.2d 381, 383–84 (2015), *disapproved on other grounds by Veal v. State*, 298 Ga. 691, 784 S.E.2d 403, 411–12 (2016) (upholding life without parole sentences for juveniles);
Conley v. State, 972 N.E.2d 864, 879–80 (Ind.2012)
State v. Houston, 353 P.3d 55, 76–77 (Utah 2015)
State v. Lyle, 854 N.W.2d 378, 387 (Iowa 2014), *as amended* (Sept. 30, 2014)
State v. Pals, 805 N.W.2d 767, 771-72 (Iowa 2011)
State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 285, 293 (Iowa 2000) *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Turner*, 630 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2001)
State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785, 791 (Iowa 2013)
Varnum v. Brien, 763 N.W.2d 862, 877 (Iowa 2009)
State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260, 291 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Short, 851 N.W.2d 474, 489 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 55 (Iowa 2013)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3), this case would be appropriate for consideration by the Iowa Supreme Court as it involves a substantial issue of first impression and presents substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the December 16, 2019 Ruling on Motion to Dismiss Appellant's Application for Postconviction Relief and February 17, 2020 order denying Appellant's Motion to Amend, Enlarge, and Reconsider entered by the Honorable Judge Joseph Seidlin. (Ruling on Motion to Dismiss; Ruling on Motion to Amend, Enlarge, and Reconsider) (Non-Confidential App. at 17). Applicant/Appellant Fernando Sandoval filed an application for postconviction relief following his convictions for two counts of Murder in the First Degree in violation of Iowa Code § 707.1 and 707.2 and two counts of Attempted Murder, in violation of Iowa Code § 707.11. Sandoval was found guilty by jury verdict entered December 10, 2004. (Sentencing Order) (Non-Confidential App. at 107-08). On February 16, 2005, Sandoval was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole in both murder charges and 25 years on both counts of attempted

murder. *Id.* Sandoval filed an appeal and the Iowa Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions on October 25, 2006. *State v. Sandoval*, No. 05-0426, 2006 WL 3018152 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 25, 2006).

Sandoval filed three prior applications for postconviction relief, each of which was denied. Sandoval appealed each of these denials. *Procedendo* issued on February 18, 2010 (PCCE056248); June 18, 2015 (PCCE071784); and July 10, 2018 (PCCE079547).

On June 27, 2019, Sandoval mailed a fourth application for postconviction relief. (Application for Postconviction Relief) (Non-Confidential App. at 6). It was received and docketed by the court on July 8, 2020. (Docket Entries) (Non-Confidential App. at 35). His application was denied on December 16, 2019. (Ruling on Motion to Dismiss) (Non-Confidential App. at 21). Sandoval timely filed a motion to amend, enlarge and reconsider, which was denied on February 17, 2020. (Ruling on Motion to Amend, Enlarge, and Reconsider) (Non-Confidential App. at 31). Sandoval appealed the denials of his application for postconviction relief and motion to amend, enlarge and reconsider on March 4, 2020. (Notice of Appeal) (Non-Confidential App. at 33).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 24, 2004, Fernando Sandoval and his brother, Jorge Perez-Castillo, were at the Casa Vallarta bar drinking with a group of friends. *State v. Sandoval*, 725 N.W.2d 658 (Table), No. 05-0426, 2006 WL 3018152 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 25, 2006). Christian Gonzales, who is Perez-Castillo and Sandoval's cousin, was part of this group. *Id.* Santos Bueso Jr., his father Santos Bueso Sr., and his uncle Manuel Ulloa were also at Casa Vallarta that night. *Id.* Fighting broke out between the two groups, which was defused by security guards. *Id.* Managers decided to close the bar. *Id.* As people began exiting the bar, another fight erupted between the two groups. *Id.* During the altercation, Bueso Jr., Bueso Sr., and Ulloa were shot. *Id.* Bueso Sr. and Ulloa died as a result of their injuries. *Id.*

Perez-Castillo and Sandoval left the scene in Perez-Castillo's truck. *Id.* Perez-Castillo drove, with Sandoval in the passenger seat. *Id.* The gun used in the shootings was inside the pickup truck. *Id.*

Officer David Viggers attempted to stop the truck, but the stop evolved into a high-speed chase. *Id.* During the pursuit, shots were fired. *Id.* One bullet struck the windshield of Officer Viggers's vehicle. *Id.* Police officers eventually disabled the truck. *Id.* A foot chase ensued, during which Perez-Castillo fired at officers and was shot in the leg. *Id.* Sandoval was also

shot. (Minutes of Testimony at 7) (Confidential App. at 6). Eventually, Perez-Castillo and Sandoval surrendered. *Sandoval*, 2006 WL 3018152.

Sandoval and Perez-Castillo were both arrested and charged with two counts of murder in the first degree based on the deaths of Bueso Sr. and Ulloa, one count of attempted murder based on the shooting of Bueso Jr., and one count of attempted murder based on the shots fired at Officer Viggers. *Id.* The matter proceeded to a joint trial in November 2004. *Id.*

On December 10, 2004, Sandoval was convicted of two counts of Murder in the First Degree in violation of Iowa Code § 707.1 and 707.2 and two counts of Attempted Murder, in violation of Iowa Code § 707.11. On February 16, 2005, Sandoval was sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole in both murder charges and 25 years on both counts of attempted murder. Sandoval filed an appeal and the Iowa Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions on October 25, 2006. *Sandoval*, 2006 WL 3018152.

Sandoval filed three prior applications for postconviction relief, each of which was denied. Sandoval appealed each of these denials. *Procedendo* issued on February 18, 2010 (PCCE056248); June 18, 2015 (PCCE071784); and July 10, 2018 (PCCE079547).

On June 27, 2019, Sandoval mailed a fourth application for postconviction relief. (Application for Postconviction Relief) (Non-

Confidential App. at 6). It was received and docketed by the court on July 8, 2020. (Docket Entries) (Non-Confidential App. at 35). His application was denied on December 16, 2019. (Ruling on Motion to Dismiss) (Non-Confidential App. at 21). Sandoval timely filed a motion to amend, enlarge and reconsider, which was denied on February 17, 2020. (Ruling on Motion to Amend, Enlarge, and Reconsider) (Non-Confidential App. at 31).

Sandoval timely appealed the denials of his application for postconviction relief and motion to amend, enlarge and reconsider on March 4, 2020. (Notice of Appeal) (Non-Confidential App. at 33).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING SANDOVAL'S APPLICATION AS UNTIMELY

A. Error Preservation

The issue was preserved because Sandoval resisted the State's motion to dismiss, which was granted by the court in the ruling on Sandoval's postconviction relief case. (Ruling on Motion to Dismiss) (Non-Confidential App. at 21).

B. Scope and Standard of Appellate Review

Iowa appellate courts “ordinarily review summary dispositions of PCR applications for correction of errors at law. *Linn v. State*, 929 N.W.2d 717, 729 (Iowa 2019) (citing *Moon v. State*, 911 N.W.2d 137, 142 (Iowa 2018); *Castro v. State*, 795 N.W.2d 789, 792 (Iowa 2011)).

“However, [] review is de novo when the basis for postconviction relief implicates a constitutional violation. *Id* (citing *Moon*, 911 N.W.2d at 142; *Castro*, 795 N.W.2d at 792). “PCR applications alleging ineffective assistance of counsel raise a constitutional claim”, as do those raising constitutional violations of due process and the right against cruel and unusual punishment. *Id* (citing *Castro*, 795 N.W.2d at 792). Accordingly, de novo review is appropriate in this case.

C. Argument

“Summary judgment is appropriate if the record ‘show[s] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.’ ” *Linn v. State*, 929 N.W.2d 717, 730 (Iowa 2019) (citing Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3); *Banwart v. 50th Street Sports, L.L.C.*, 910 N.W.2d 540, 544 (Iowa 2018)). “Courts are required to “examine the record to determine whether a material fact is in dispute” *Id*

(citations omitted). “Even if the facts are undisputed, summary judgment is not proper if reasonable minds could draw different inferences from them and thereby reach different conclusions.” *Id* (citations omitted).

i. **EQUAL PROTECTION AND DUE PROCESS REQUIRE POSTCONVICTION RELIEF BE AVAILABLE TO APPLICANT**

The Iowa Constitution provides a right to counsel “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, and in cases involving the life, or liberty of an individual” Iowa Const. Art. I, § 10. “A corollary to the right to counsel, of course, is the right to effective assistance of counsel.” *Allison v. State*, 914 N.W.2d 866, 889 (Iowa 2018) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 684–87 (1984); *State v. Dahl*, 874 N.W.2d 348, 352 (Iowa 2016)). “The constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel at a criminal trial is the bedrock of our system of justice.” *Id* (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 685, 104 S.Ct. at 2063; *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 344 (1963)).

Courts have long recognized that constitutional guarantees of effective assistance of counsel are necessary for indigent defendants who cannot proceed effectively on a pro se basis. *Allison*, 914 N.W.2d at 874 (citations omitted). The United States Supreme Court in *Douglas*, *Powell* and *Gideon*, emphasized the importance of the constitutional rights of due process and equal protection in guaranteeing effective assistance of counsel to ensure a

fair trial for indigent defendants. *Id* (citing *Douglas v. California*, 372 U.S. 353, 354–55 (1963); *Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 45 (1932); and *Gideon*, 372 U.S. 335).

Unlike the federal Constitution, the Iowa Constitutional explicitly “extends beyond criminal prosecutions to other cases involving life or liberty.” *Allison*, 914 N.W.2d at 871. Accordingly, the Iowa Constitution protects individuals whose liberty is threatened in civil cases, such as postconviction relief, not merely criminal defendants. *Id* at 871. Constitutional protection is necessary in postconviction relief cases because, just as in criminal prosecutions, an indigent individual “cannot be assured a fair trial unless counsel is provided for him.” *Gideon*, 372 U.S. at 343.

In this case, Sandoval specifically raised the issue of ineffective assistance of trial counsel in his application for postconviction relief. However, by granting the State’s motion for summary judgment, the court impermissibly denied Sandoval the opportunity to fully develop these claims and present evidence to support them. The failure of trial counsel to effectively assist Sandoval denied him a fair trial and also constitutes a new ground of fact which justifies tolling the statute of limitations under Iowa Code § 822.3.

Where a defendant has “an ineffective lawyer at trial and then an ineffective lawyer in a timely PCR proceeding [, t]he end result is that a potentially meritorious claim may not be raised within the three-year statute of limitations because of bungling lawyers.” *Allison*, 914 N.W.2d at 889. Due process cannot allow this error to be compounded by a series of postconviction counsel who have failed to provide effective assistance in an applicant’s case. Otherwise, “the underlying constitutional entitlement to effective assistance of counsel at trial will be a nullity and lie unenforced.” *Id* at 890.

Accordingly, the constitutional rights to counsel, to equal protection, and to due process require postconviction relief be available for people, like Sandoval, who have previously not received effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Constitution, Amend. 5, 6, 14; Iowa Constitution, Art. 1, §§ 6, 9, 10.

ii. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DOES NOT APPLY BECAUSE THERE IS A GROUND OF FACT THAT COULD NOT HAVE BEEN RAISED WITHIN THE APPLICABLE TIME PERIOD

Additionally, the Iowa Supreme Court has held, “[a]n application based on new evidence that could not have been discovered through reasonable diligence, however, is not subject to the three-year limitation.”

Allison, 914 N.W.2d at 888 (citing Iowa Code § 822.3). In order to waive the 3 year limitation under Iowa Code § 822.3, “An applicant need only allege that the newly discovered evidence or other error is relevant to the case and has the potential to provide a basis for reversal.” *Id* (citing *Harrington v. State*, 659 N.W.2d 509, 521 (Iowa 2003)).

Under long-standing Iowa Supreme Court precedent, the “ground of fact” exception under § 822.3 “may include the ineffectiveness of trial counsel” because “[t]he errors of trial counsel have a direct impact on the validity of a criminal conviction.” *Dible v. State*, 557 N.W.2d 881, 884 (Iowa 1996), *abrogated on other grounds by Harrington*, 659 N.W.2d 509, and *holding modified by Allison*, 914 N.W.2d 866.

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