IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 20-0396

FERNANDO SANDOVAL,
Applicant-Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF IOWA,
Respondent-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JOSEPH SEIDLIN, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

KYLE HANSON
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-4902 (fax)
kyle.hanson@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN SARCONI
Polk County Attorney

JAMES HATHAWAY
Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

ARGUMENT

I. **The District Court Properly Granted Summary Dismissal of Sandoval’s Fourth Application for Postconviction Relief.**

Preservation of Error

Sandoval preserved error to the extent he challenges the dismissal of his application under Iowa Code section 822.3. The district court’s ruling and Sandoval’s motion to enlarge addressed the statutory grounds. Ruling (12/16/2019), Motion to Enlarge (1/17/2020); App. 17, 23.

However, Sandoval did not preserve his constitutional arguments. On appeal, he contends summary dismissal violated the constitutional protections of due process and equal protection.

Applicant’s Proof Br. at 20–23. But he did not raise due process or equal protection in the district court—those terms do not appear in any written resistance or the hearing transcript. Instead, Sandoval only offered a vague assertion: “I don’t believe that the amendments to the post-conviction relief statute are constitutional under the Iowa Constitution and nor should apply in this circumstance.” PCR Tr. 7:15–18. That ambiguous allegation did not preserve the due process and equal protection challenges he raises for the first time on appeal. *See State v. Hernandez-Lopez*, 639 N.W.2d 226, 234 (Iowa 2002) (“Contrary to the defendants’ argument, a mere assertion that a statute is ‘unconstitutional’ does not encompass every conceivable constitutional violation.”); *see also Taft v. Iowa Dist. Court for Linn Cty.*, 828 N.W.2d 309, 322–23 (Iowa 2013) (“A party cannot preserve error for appeal by making only general reference to a constitutional provision in the district court and then seeking to develop the argument on appeal.”).

Additionally, Sandoval failed to secure a district court ruling on his constitutional challenges. The initial ruling did not address either constitutional challenge. *See Ruling* (12/16/2019); App. 17 (not discussing “due process” or “equal protection”). And although

Sandoval filed a motion to enlarge, that motion did not make any due process or equal protection argument. Motion to Enlarge (1/17/2020); App. 23. Therefore, the constitutional arguments are not preserved for this Court’s review. *See Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) (“When a district court fails to rule on an issue properly raised by a party, the party who raised the issue must file a motion requesting a ruling in order to preserve error for appeal.”).

Standard of Review

“Our review of the court’s ruling on the State’s statute-of-limitations defense is for correction of errors of law.” *Harrington v. State*, 659 N.W.2d 509, 519 (Iowa 2003).

Discussion

Sandoval’s fourth postconviction application was untimely. First, he does not get the benefit of the *Allison* extension because he filed his current application after the statutory abrogation of that case. Second, even if *Allison* still applied, he did not “promptly” file his fourth application. Therefore, the district court properly granted summary dismissal.

There is no question that Sandoval’s fourth PCR application was filed beyond the three-year statute of limitations. A postconviction

application “must be filed within three years from the date the conviction or decision is final or, in the event of an appeal, from the date the writ of procedendo is issued.” Iowa Code § 822.3.

Procedendo for Sandoval’s direct appeal issued on November 21, 2006. Procedendo (Sup. Ct. no. 05-0426, FECR181133); App. 109. He initiated his current postconviction action in July 2019 (App. 6), nearly a decade after the three-year statute of limitations expired.

Sandoval attempts to exploit the extension from *Allison v. State*, 914 N.W.2d 866 (Iowa 2018). Before *Allison*, the Court followed the rule that “a successive PCR application filed outside the three-year statute of limitations in Iowa Code section 822.3 was untimely and that ineffective assistance of counsel was not a ‘ground of fact’ sufficient to extend the running of the limitations period.” *Id.* at 871 (citing *Dible v. State*, 557 N.W.2d 881, 886 (Iowa 1996)). The *Allison* Court decided to “qualify” *Dible* and created an extension of section 822.3’s three-year limitation:

...[W]e think the best approach is to hold that where a PCR petition alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel has been timely filed per section 822.3 and there is a successive PCR petition alleging postconviction counsel was ineffective in presenting the ineffective-assistance-of-trial-counsel claim, the timing of the filing of the second PCR petition relates

back to the timing of the filing of the original PCR petition for purposes of Iowa Code section 822.3 if the successive PCR petition is filed promptly after the conclusion of the first PCR action.

Id. at 891. However, Sandoval does not qualify for this extension.

A. The *Allison* extension was abrogated by statute before Sandoval filed his fourth postconviction application.

In response to the *Allison* decision, the General Assembly amended section 822.3 by adding:

An allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel in a prior case under this chapter shall not toll or extend the limitation periods in this section nor shall such claim relate back to a prior filing to avoid the application of the limitation periods.

Iowa Code § 822.3 (as amended by 2019 Iowa Acts ch. 140, § 34).

This amendment became effective on July 1, 2019.

The 2019 amendment of section 822.3 constitutes a clear abrogation of *Allison*. It was passed in the next legislative session after the *Allison* decision, reflecting the legislature’s intent to undo the judicial interpretation of section 822.3. Also, the amendment’s use of terms such as “toll,” “extend,” and “relate back” match key terms in the *Allison* decision, demonstrating the legislature’s purpose to reverse *Allison*’s holding. Consequently, any postconviction

application filed after July 1, 2019 does not receive an extension relating back to the filing of a previous postconviction action.

The 2019 amendment applies to Sandoval's present case. The district court file-stamped his application on July 8, 2019. PCR Appl. (7/8/2019); App. 6. Because his application was filed after the July 1 effective date, the new version of section 822.3 applies and prevents his current application from relating back to his previous postconviction actions.

Contrary to Sandoval's argument, he does not qualify for any "mailbox rule" extension. First, he recognizes that "Iowa does not have a statutory prison mailbox rule..." Applicant's Proof Br. at 34. Second, even if Iowa recognized the prison mailbox rule, Sandoval failed to prove it applied to the mailing of his application. He contends he timely mailed the application "by providing it to prison authorities on June 27, 2019." Applicant's Proof Br. at 35. However, his application does not have a certificate of filing or service—instead, it was only subscribed and sworn before a notary on June 27, 2019. PCR Appl. (7/8/2019) at 4, 5; App. 9, 10. The notary date is not necessarily the same date Sandoval placed the application in the mail, so it does not provide competent evidence of the date of mailing. *See,*

e.g., Henderson-El v. Maschner, 180 F.3d 984, 985–86 (8th Cir. 1999) (“The only facts before the Court are that Appellant signed the petition on April 20, 1997, and the Clerk’s office filed it on May 6, 1997. Neither of these dates aids in determining whether the petition was mailed on or before April 24. Because Appellant failed to provide any evidence of the date on which he mailed his petition, he may not avail himself of the benefits of the prison mailbox rule.”). Finally, Sandoval is wrong to allege a due process violation by suggesting that “State agents operating the prison delayed providing his mail to the United States postal service...” Applicant’s Proof Br. at 35. The Court decided *Allison* on June 29, 2018, yet Sandoval waited nearly an entire year to prepare his application for filing. Even if prison security measures delayed mailing by a few days, it did not excuse Sandoval’s dilatory pursuit of his *Allison* claim.

Allison does not apply. The General Assembly abrogated *Allison* effective July 1, 2019. Sandoval’s application was filed after the effective date, so his fourth postconviction application does not “relate back.” The district court properly granted summary dismissal of his untimely application.

B. Even if *Allison* still applied, Sandoval did not “promptly” file his fourth postconviction application.

Sandoval did not “promptly” file his fourth application after his first postconviction action ended. *Allison* can extend the deadline “if the successive PCR petition is filed promptly after the conclusion of the *first* PCR action.” *Allison*, 914 N.W.2d at 891 (emphasis added). Sandoval’s first postconviction action ended February 16, 2010 (Procedendo 09-0039; App. 61), which was more than 9 years before he filed the July 8, 2019 application in the present postconviction case. *Allison*’s plain language limits the extension to a second postconviction action. *See Allison*, 914 N.W.2d at 891 (extending “the timing of the filing of the *second* PCR petition” (emphasis added)). And even if *Allison* applied beyond its plain language to any subsequent PCR application, Sandoval filed his fourth application approximately 12 full months after his third PCR ended. *See* Procedendo (Sup. Ct. no. 16-1875, PCCE079547); App. 103 (issued July 10, 2018).

Sandoval’s delay was too long. Standing alone, the delay of 12 months between the third and fourth applications does not meet *Allison*’s “promptly filed” timeframe. *See, e.g., Polk v. State*, No. 18-

0309, 2019 WL 3945964, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 21, 2019) (“A gap of almost six months between his voluntary dismissal of the first PCR appeal and filing the second PCR petition does not fit the definition of prompt.”); *State v. Harlston*, No. 19-0627, 2020 WL 4200859, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. July 22, 2020) (“Harlston filed his second PCR application more than six months after the conclusion of his first PCR action, and ‘this court has already concluded six months ‘does not fit the definition of prompt’ for purposes of the *Allison* decision.’” (quoting *Demery v. State*, No. 19-1465, 2020 WL 1887955, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 15, 2020))).

The untimeliness becomes even more apparent when considering the delays between all of Sandoval’s previous postconviction cases. More than 27 months passed between his first and second PCR cases. *See* *Procedendo* (Sup. Ct. no. 09-0039, PCCE056248) (2/16/2010), PCCE071784 Appl. (5/30/2012); App. 61, 63. Another seven months passed between his second and third PCR cases. *See* *Procedendo* (Sup. Ct. no. 14-0341, PCCE071784) (6/17/2015), PCCE079547 Appl. (1/25/2016); App. 81, 84. In total, approximately 46 months have elapsed between Sandoval’s postconviction cases, which shows he was not “prompt” in pursuing

his current ineffective assistance claim against trial counsel. *See, e.g., Kelly v. State*, No. 17-0382, 2018 WL 3650287, at *4 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 1, 2018) (finding the applicant did not “promptly” file when 15 months passed after his first PCR and more than a year passed after his second PCR).

Even if Sandoval’s fourth application were “promptly filed,” it did not relate back all the way to his first postconviction case. *Allison* requires that the “successive PCR petition alleg[e] postconviction counsel was ineffective in presenting the ineffective-assistance-of-trial-counsel claim.” *Allison*, 914 N.W.2d at 891. In other words, postconviction applicants must show continuity in the successive petitions alleging ineffective presentation of a particular claim against trial counsel. *See Kelly*, 2018 WL 3650287, at *4 (“This is not Kelly’s second application but his third. His second application, while claiming first PCR counsel was ineffective, did not claim that first PCR counsel failed to effectively present his claims that trial counsel was ineffective but rather claimed first PCR counsel was ineffective for failing to exhaust state remedies.”). Sandoval’s current PCR action alleges ineffective assistance of trial counsel, but his third PCR action raised a claim of newly discovered evidence. *See Sandoval*, 2018 WL

2727690, at *1. Because there was a break in the chain of ineffective assistance claims, his current allegations do not relate back to his first postconviction application.

Sandoval’s misinterpretation of *Allison* would permit an endless train of postconviction actions. In effect, his rule would allow any successive application to “relate back” to the first application as long as it was filed within a certain time after the previous action ended, no matter what issue was raised in the previous action. That result matches the prediction made by the *Allison* dissenters. *See Allison*, 914 N.W.2d at 898 (Waterman, J., dissenting) (“Going forward, any allegation of ineffective assistance by PCR counsel will avoid the three-year statute of limitations. This opens the floodgates to stale PCR actions. In effect, there is no longer a statute of limitations in PCR actions.”). This Court should not accept Sandoval’s position that would allow the “exception to the three-year time-bar [to] swallow that time-bar.” *Id.*

The district court properly dismissed Sandoval’s untimely postconviction application. His fourth application—filed more than 12 years after his direct appeal—violated section 822.3’s three-year statute of limitations. Because his successive applications were not

“promptly filed” and did not relate back, he would not get the benefit of *Allison*’s narrow qualification even if *Allison* still applied.

Accordingly, this Court should affirm the denial of postconviction relief.

II. Sandoval Was Not Entitled to Juvenile-Sentencing Procedures for Offenses He Committed as an Adult.

Appellate Jurisdiction

Sandoval has no right to challenge the legality of his sentence in this postconviction appeal. Illegal-sentence claims are not proper subjects for PCR cases. Even if Sandoval had raised his illegal-sentence challenge in the district court, he would not have the right to appeal its denial.

Postconviction relief is not the proper forum for Sandoval to raise his illegal-sentence claim. Instead, he should have filed a motion to correct his sentence in the district court criminal case. *See Bonilla v. State*, 791 N.W.2d 697, 699 (Iowa 2010) (“Bonilla filed a postconviction relief action. Because he complains his sentence is illegal, however, the claim ‘is not a postconviction relief action.’”); *see also Veal v. State*, 779 N.W.2d 63, 65 (Iowa 2010) (“Although not labeled as such, the district court on remand should treat her

application for postconviction relief as a challenge to an illegal sentence...”).

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